IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 62,710

FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v.

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 12 1985

By______

TERRENCE E. ROSENBERG,

Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TERRENCE E. ROSENBERG 79 North Hibiscus Drive Miami Beach, Fla. 33139 (305) 325-2016

Respondent.

INTRODUCTION

This matter concerns a two count Bar Grievance proceeding against the respondent. The first count charges that the respondent neglected a legal matter entrusted to him, the second matter charges that the conviction of a minimum housing violation affects the respondent's fitness to practice law. Respondent denies both. The Bar suggests, and the referee recommends a suspension for (90) days from the practice of law, the respondent contends that even if he is guilty, the penalty should be no more than a public reprimand.

The Exhibits are referred to as numbered in the transcript, the transcript is referred to as "T".

PGINTS ON APPEAL

- I WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDNET GUILTY OF NEGLECTING A MATTER ENTRUSTED TO HIM
- II WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED IN HOLDING THE RESPONDENT GUILTY OF CONDUCT ADVERSELY AFFECTING THE RESPONDENT'S FITNESS TO PRACTICE LAW FOR VIOLATION OF A CITY MINIMUM HOUSING ORDINANCE
- III WHETHER THE REFEREE SHOULD HAVE RECOMMENDED A PUBLIC REPRIMAND RATHER THAN A (90) DAYS SUSPENSION

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The client testified at the grievance committe meeting that he did not believe that he ever sp0ke with the Respondent (T. Fage 121). But, when he was asked why the interrogatories were not answered and treturned to the Respondent, the client said "No, I can't explain that at all, and that is a mystery to me too." The client finally responded to the request for completed interrogatories one and one half year later (ap moximately), on June 26, 1978 (Exhibit 26), some (6) months after the third or fourth request was sent to counsel for the Plaintiff in Washington D.C. (Exhibit 20).

Similarly the complainant delayed in provided the funds for a nonresident cost bond, after the defendant moved for the bond to be provided according to the rules. The complainant did not provide the bond for
nearly a year, despite repeated requested from the respondent (Exhibt 12,
15, 21). Finally, the case was dismissed for failure to provide the
cost bond timely, and

refiled by the respondent.

Subsequently, the respondent was notified by the complainant that he was discharged from the case. He called the complainant and informed him that he would refile the case only to make sure it was timely, and turn over the file to the new attorney for complainant as soon as requested. (Exhibit 30, T. Page 113, P. 121, copy of the respondent's phone bill, proving the call to the complainant. The Complainant confirmed that he had terminated the services of the respondent (T., Page 129); "I don't feel that we re-engaged him, no".

Respondent received no correspondence from the complainant from January 26, 1979, until the present date. In December 1980, the Florida Bar received the complaint against the respondent by this complainant. It is the respondent's position that all of the delays were caused by the complainant's failure to cooperate with counsel, and that the complainant terminated the services of the respondent and never reinstated the attorney-client relationship. The complainant failed to employ new counsel to pursue the case, never contacted the respondent (Exhibit 32, shows a letter addressed to the wrong address, not received by the respondent), and ultimatley chose to let his case be dismissed and to attempt to secure monetary damages, through the use of the Florida Bar grievance machinery.

The referree apparently misconstrued the evidence, and the recommendation should be reversed by this honourable Court.

The second count in the Bar's complaint deals with the conviction of the respondent for (5) separate misdemeanor counts

involving the same property, the same violations, on (5) separate days in approximately (1) weeks time. It is the only time in the history of the ordinance, that the defendant was sentenced to jail for minimum housing violations, and smacks of unequal protection, of prejudice by the Court, of politics, and of a complete lack of Constitutional protection. That case is presently under a 3.850 collateral attack in the County Court, whilethe United States District Court has stayed any execution of sentence, pending a complete review by the State Court system, and the Habeas Corpus argument in the United States District Court after exhaustion takes place in the State Court system.

The Florida Bar: initiated this complaint by sending the respondent a copy of a newspaper article, with a "please give us your position on this " letter. The conviction on these charges even if upheld, would not bear on the fitness of the respondent to practice law, since the case only has to do with minimum housing violations, which were the first and only conviction of the respondent for any misdemeanor or other crime, ever.

There is no moral turpitude, no damage or injury to a client or to the public, no mismanagement of a client's funds, knowing or willful violation of any law. It is unrefuted that the respondent was not an owner of the subject real property, that he was treated in a manner inconsistent with all other "violator", and that the Code has been decriminalized some several months after that case, so that such a conviction of a misdemanor is no longer possible.

Counsel for the respondent in that case was subsequently charged with drug violations and disbarred, the Court was so biased

that it ultimately recused itself.

The Bar states that it can look beyond the conviction of a misdemeanor to determine unethical conduct, even if the defendant is acquitted, but then why can the Court not consider the merits of the conduct even in the instance when the defendant is convicted. This case is long from being resolved, it in involves serious Constitutional issues, and no sanction should be granted based on this case until the case is confirmed or reversed, nor should any sanction be based on the matters presented in this case which do not in any way affect the respondent's fitness to practice law.

THE REFERREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT IS GUILTY OF NEGLECT

The honourable Referreein this case erred in finding the respondent guilty of neglecting a legal matter entrusted to him. It is clear from the record that the respondent did undertake the legal matter mby correspondence with the defendant, and filing suit for damages. It is clear from the record that the respondent was thwarted from pursuing the case by the complainant's delay of approximately one and one half years in providing the answers to interrogatories requested by ther respondent. (Exhibit 17, 18, 19, 20, 26, T. 121); and the respondent was equally thwarted by the complainant's failure to file a fee for a non-resident cost bond for many months, until after the case had been dismissed.

The complainantadmits that he terminated the services of the respondent, (T. 129), but complains of the respondent after the date of termination, and nearly (2) years later filed a complaint with the Florida Bar, with no communication with the respondent from the date of termination on January 26, 1979, until the Bar grievance was filed on December 20, 1980.

THE REFERRE ERRED IN HOLDING THE RESPONDENT
GUILTY OF CONDUCT ADVERSED AFFECTING HIS
ABILITY OR FITNESS TO PRACTIVE LAW FOR VIOLATION
OF A CITY MINIMUM HOUSING ORDINANCE

The Respondent is presently appealing the conviction and sentence for violations of the minimum housing ordinance of the City of Miami Beach, based on his contention that he was the only person ever sentenced to jail for violation of the ordinance, that the sentence and conviction were illegal since they violated the respondent's right to equal protection under the law, and the City treated this respondent, who had on many previous occasions successfully litigated against the City of Miami Beach, differently than other defendants. This was the first offense for the respondent, it did not represent a consistent pattern, or a criminal tendency.

The Conviction for minimum housing violations does not in any manner affect the respondent's ability or fitness to practice law or adversely affect the public. The case involves no moral turpitude, no fraud, no mishandling of a case or funds of a client, no sharp practices with regard to other attorneys, or any other matters with any bearing of the respondent's fitness to practice law. The law of the City of Miami Beach was changed in 1980, and now provides that the violation of the minimum housing violations is a matter to be taken before a municipal board who can levy fines against the property not assess Criminal penalties. The only reason that the Bar has pursued this matter, or even was aware of this matter, is the respondent's active fight to vindicate himself which has resulted in publicity in the media.

THE REFERREE ERRED IN ORDERING A (90) DAYS SUSPENSION FROM THE BAR

Respondent would show that a (90) days suspension is unusually severe and harsh under the facts of this case. The respondent previously received a private reprimand for keeping trust accounts properly, which involved the respondent's own family corporations or funds, and did not involve any fraud. The respondent received a public reprimand for sending uncertified copies of pleadings (failing to certify copies were sent), for representing his own corporation at a deposition, and for alleged failure to send copies of pleadings to opposing counsel, and for alleged harassment by filing interlocutory appeals which were either voluntarily dismissed or dismissed for filing fees. Neither of these matters involve moral turpitude, dishonesty, cheating, fraud, clients funds, or any other serious matters. These prior violations are of record, for minor misconduct of an attorney.

The two counts in the instant case involve only minor matters as well. The first count involves the conduct of a case with a client, in which work was clearly performed, and at best, the conduct of the client provides substantial mitigation for the respondent, where the client was clearly neglectful in pursuing the things he needed to do to advance his own case. The second count, involving minimum housing cases has little or nothing to do with the respondents fitness to practice law. The cases support a public reprimand rather than suspension for minor misconduct.

Florida Bar v. Thompson(1979, Fla), 376 So 2d 6, Public reprimand where attorney failed to act on case for 3 1/2 years; Florida Bar v. Tobin (1979, Fla), 377 So 2d 690, public reprimand where attorney failed to maintain client trust fund records, neglected a legal matter; Florida Bar v. Snow(1981, Fla.), 397 So 2d 395, public reprimand was given rather than the suspension requested by the Florida Bar; Florida Bar v. Rosetti (1979,Fla) 379 So 2d 362, Five counts of violations of cannons of ethics including neglect of a matter warranted only reprimand; Florida Bar fv. Gaer(1980, Fla), 380 So 2d 428, Sharing fees with bondsman, soliciting business from clients warranted only reprimand, not (60) days suspension sought by the Bar; Florida Bar v. Sepe 380 So 2d 1040, Soliciting sexual favors from defendant's wife while judge warranted reprimand only, Florida Bar v. Gray, 380 So 2d 1292, Neglect of a matter, and intentional failure to carry out contract of employment, as well as failure to take steps to avoid forseeable negative results for client warranted only reprimand Florida Bar v Sterling, 380 So 2d 1295(1980) failure to deliver a \$5,000 check to the proper party was punished by reprimand; Florida Bar v Page, 381 So 2d 1357, Failure to file a foreclosure suit that the attorney was paid for, refusal to return fees when demanded by client was punished by reprimand; Florida Bar v. Glick 383 So 2d 642, Improper handling of breach of contract suit and quiety title suit, resulted in a public reprimand, not the Bar's recommended (60) days suspension; Florida Bar v. Larkin, 370 FSo 2d 371, where the attorney failed to act within the statutory limits, a reprimand would be given; Florida Bar v. Bratton(1980) 389 So 2d 637, Reprimand even where dishonesty, fraud, etc., on

attorney's part; Florida Bar v. Alford (1981, Fla)400 So 2d 458, Public reprimand for neglect case, Florida Bar v. Gaskin (1981, Fla), 403 So 2d 425, Reprimand where the attorney was both neglectful ofthe case, and lied as to the status of the acase to his client; Florida Bar v. Finta (1983, Fla), 427 So 2d 721, Public reprimand for violations of trust accounts, and fees rules.

The Florida Bar has cited everal cases which are distinguishable in support of its position. Florida Bar v. Rubin, 362 So 2d 12, for cumulative misconduct, which is not the case at hand, where the prior record indicates minor misconduct of an unrelated type; Florida Bar v. Byron, which involves a case dismissed with prejudice on top of other serious violations, (400 So 2d 13); Florida Bar v. Baron 408 So 2d 1050, which involved several counts of serious misconduct, and a record of serious misconduct, involving dishonest; Florida Bar v. Grant, 432 So 2d 53 which involved no advice to the client for two years after filing suit.

CONCLUSION:

The respondent was not quilty of neglecting a legal matter entrusted to him, he simply could not perform because of the failure of the client to provide what was needed over long periods of time. The client discharged the respondent on January 29, 1979, and never contacted him again, nor did he have any "new" counsel contact the respondent to take over the file, as he stated that he would. On December 20, 1980, nearly two years after firing the respondent, the client filed a complaint with the Florida Bar. The Respondent was convicted of minimum housing violations, which conviction has been the subject of a continuing effort to appeal, and is presently under Stay from the United States District Court, while a 3.850 appeal winds its way through the IState Court system, to be resolved either in the State Courts of the State of Florida, or the United States Courts. In any event, this has no bearing on the fitness of the respondent to practice law. Accordingly, the respondent would seek to overturn the recommendation of the referee, as to quilt; and if not as to guilt; as to the penalty.

CERTIFICATE:

I HEREBO CERTIF 'that a true copy of the foregoing was sent by U.S. Mail on this 11 day of March, 1985, to the Florida Bar 444 Brickell Ave, Miami, Fla.

ERRENCE E. ROSENBERG, ESQ.

Respondent