. 1	FILED SID J. WINITE
		IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA	MAR 29 1985 CLERK, SUPKEME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk
THE	FLORIDA BAR,)			•	
	Complainant,)				ase No. 62,710 e Nos. 11E81105
v.)			lE81M75	

17

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

)

)

TERRENCE E. ROSENBERG,

Respondent.

PAUL A. GROSS, BAR COUNSEL THE FLORIDA BAR Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305)377 - 4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR THE FLORIDA BAR Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904)222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY, STAFF COUNSEL THE FLORIDA BAR Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904)222-5286

INTRODUCTION

The Florida Bar, Complainant, will be referred to as either "The Florida Bar", "The Bar", or "Complainant".

Terrence E. Rosenberg, Respondent, will be referred to as either, "Respondent", or "Mr. Rosenberg".

"R" is for Record or Record of Proceedings before the Referee on April 26, 1984.

References to "exhibit" by number, rather than by alphabetical letter, refer to the exhibits which are part of the Grievance Committee transcript dated March 10, 1982, which is identified as Exhibit A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The two-count complaint was filed with this Court by The Florida Bar on October 5, 1982. On October 27, 1982, the Honorable Robert C. Abel, Jr., Circuit Judge of the 17th Judicial Circuit was appointed referee. The Respondent waived his right to contest venue and agreed to trial at the Broward County Courthouse. (R. 4-5)

On July 17, 1984, the Report of Referee and the Record were filed with this Court. The Board of Governors approved the report at a meeting held September 19-22, 1984. The Respondent's Petition for Review and Brief were originally due at the Supreme Court "within 15 days of the termination of the meeting of the Board of Governors," to wit: on or before October 8, 1984. Fla. Bar Integr. Rule, art. XI, Rule 11.09(3)(a) and (c). However,

-1-

this Court granted Respondent several extensions of time, the latest being March 11, 1985, on which date Respondent mailed his brief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Statement of the Facts in the Initial Brief of Respondent are not supported by the exhibits which he cites. Therefore, The Florida Bar is compelled to give its own version of the facts.

As to Count I, the facts are as follows: The Respondent agreed to represent Capital Cycle Corp. in a lawsuit concerning the purchase of defective merchandise (Exhibits 7 and 8). The client made repeated inquiries concerning the status of the case, and it took the Respondent approximately ten months before he responded to the client's inquiries (Exhibits 12, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20 and 21). The Respondent sent the client a set of Defendant's Interrogatories and Request for Admissions. However, they were lost. The client made numerous requests of the Respondent to send copies of Defendant's Interrogatories, Request for Admissions and other pleadings (Exhibits 20, 26, 27, 29 and 34). However, the delays by the Respondent were inordinate and the suit was dismissed due to lack of prosecution (Exhibit D). Nevertheless, the Complaint was refiled. However, the case was again dismissed due to lack of prosecution. (Exhibit C).

Although the Respondent claims he was discharged by the client, the Respondent never filed a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel (R. 45, lines 17-23).

-2-

The Respondent, in his Statement of the Facts, says the case was dismissed because of the client's "failure to provide the cost bond timely."

This is not correct, as the costs for the non-resident bond and anticipated deposition costs were mailed to the Respondent on January 12, 1978 (Exhibit 32). Four months later, Respondent informed the client that he was "proceeding with the non-resident cost bond." (Exhibit 35). The case was dismissed on May 18, 1978 (Exhibit D), approximately four months after Respondent received the money for the non-resident cost bond.

Although the client requested a set of the Interrogatories on July 20, 1977 (Exhibit 26), it took Respondent approximately five months to comply with his client's request for another copy of the Interrogatories (Exhibit 32). The client was advised that the interrogatories did not have to be completed "until sometime subsequent to posting the bond." (Exhibit 31).

As to Count II, on February 2, 1981, the Respondent was convicted by the Dade County Court, of five misdemeanors, concerning violations of Chapter 17B, Section 22 of the City of Miami Beach Code. These violations pertain to failure to comply with minimum housing standards, or failure or refusal to comply with requirements of a Final Order. (R. 37-40; Exhibits E, F, G, H and I). The conviction was appealed to the Circuit Court, Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Appellate Division. However, the conviction was affirmed. (R. 39-40; Exhibit J).

-3-

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Florida Bar submits that the Referee's findings and recommendations should be approved, as the Respondent has not met his burden to demonstrate that the Report of Referee is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. Fla. Bar Integr. Rule, art. XI, Rule 11.09(3)(e). The findings of the Referee should be accorded substantial weight and should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentary support. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Wagner</u>, 212 So.2d 770, 772 (Fla. 1968). The Respondent has failed to make the required showing that the findings of the referee are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentary support.

The Referee's finding of neglect is supported by clear and convincing evidence. Despite repeated requests from the client, the Respondent neglected the case, which was dismissed for lack of prosecution, on two occasions. (Exhibits C and D).

The five misdemeanor convictions constitute conduct adversely reflecting on Respondent's ability to practice law. <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Lancaster</u>, 448 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1984). In addition, the Referee's recommendation for a ninety-day suspension is not excessive, due to Respondent's cumulative misconduct. <u>The Florida</u> Bar v. Vernell, 374 So.2d 473, 476 (Fla. 1979).

ARGUMENTS

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF GUILT SHOULD NOT BE OVERTURNED ABSENT A SHOWING THAT SUCH FINDINGS ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR LACKING IN EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT

I.

Findings of fact shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in the civil proceeding.

-4-

Fla. Bar Integr. Rule art. XI, Rule 11.06(9)(a), The Florida Bar v. Stillman, 401 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1981).

Florida Bar Integration Rule art. XI, Rule 11.09(3)(e) states:

Burden. Upon review, the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of a referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified.

This Court stated in <u>The Florida Bar v. Wagner</u>, 212 So.2d 770, 772 (Fla. 1968), "In disciplinary matters, the ultimate judgment remains with this Court. However, the initial factfinding responsibility is imposed upon the referee. His findings of fact should be accorded substantial weight. They should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support."

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hirsch</u>, 359 So.2d 856, 857 (Fla. 1978), this Court stated:

It is our responsibility to review the determination of guilt made by the Referee upon the facts of record, and if the charges be true, to impose an appropriate penalty for violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility. Fact-finding responsibility in disciplinary proceedings is imposed on the Referee. His findings should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence.

The Respondent has failed to make the required showing that the findings of the Referee are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. Therefore, the findings of guilty by the Referee should be approved.

-5-

THE REFEREE'S FINDING OF NEGLECT IS SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE

The Referee's finding Respondent guilty of violating Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility, Disciplinary Rule 6-101(A), neglect of a legal matter (RR. 2), is supported by clear and convincing evidence and should be approved by this Court.

The Respondent admitted to all of the allegations in Count I of the Complaint, except for Paragraphs 4, 12 and 15 through 19. (See Answer to Request for Admissions; R. 6 and 12). The allegations in the paragraphs that were denied by Respondent, were proven by clear and convincing evidence. For example, Paragraph 4 of the Complaint alleges:

> Despite repeated inquiries by Capital Cycle Corporation and its Washington, D.C. attorneys, the Respondent failed to advise his client about the status of the case for approximately (10) months, until January 20, 1977. (R. 16, lines 23-25).

(See Exhibits 17, 18, 20 and 21). These exhibits show a series of letters which begin with a letter to the Respondent, dated April 26, 1976 (Exhibit 17), but Mr. Rosenberg didn't respond until January 20, 1977 (Exhibit 21).

Paragraph 12 of the Complaint alleges:

Despite frequent requests by his client, the Respondent failed to send a copy of the defendant's answers until May 1, 1978, thereby delaying completion of responses to the Interrogatories and Request for Admissions.

The following exhibits show Respondent's neglect in his failure to respond to his client's requests in a timely manner:

II.

-6-

Exhibit 20 - "If you will be so kind to provide me with copies of any and all pleadings and motions, in the above, I will be appreciative of same." September 21, 1976.

Exhibit 26 - "Please send me at your earliest convenience an additional copy of interroga-tories." July 20, 1977.

Exhibit 27 - "I still haven't heard anything from you regarding my answer to your letter of July 10, 1977." September 19, 1977.

Exhibit 29 - "...Accordingly, I would be grateful if you would send me a copy of all the pleadings relative to this action including the complaint, the defendant's answer, and all interrogatories. I should note that Mr. Moore has not yet received a copy of the interrogatories he requested from you in his letters dated July 20, 1977, September 19, 1977, and October 21, 1977..."

Exhibit 34 - "When we spoke on March 10, you stated that you would send me a copy of the defendant's answer in the case... on Monday, March 13. I have not received it yet." March 20, 1978.

On or about June 6, 1978, the client's attorney sent a letter to the Respondent enclosing the answers to the interrogatories and requesting that the complaint be amended to include fraud as an additional cause of action, (Exhibit 36).

Despite numerous requests by the client and his Washington attorney, the Respondent failed to send a copy of the amended or refiled complaint, and in fact, did not file the complaint until early 1979. (Exhibit 42). The Respondent's failure to respond may be shown by the following exhibits:

> Exhibit 36 - "...I trust you will comply with this request and would appreciate your sending me a copy of the complaint as amended." June 6, 1978.

Exhibit 37 - "...I would appreciate your sending me a copy of the amended complaint." June 26, 1978.

-7-

Exhibit 38 - "You were to have amended complaint to include fraud re: Greater Hemispheres. May I have a copy of the amended complaint as soon as possible?" August 25, 1978.

Exhibit 40 - "If memory serves me correctly, you were to have amended the complaint against Greater Hemispheres Corporation to include fraud. That was in 1978. Now that we are in the new year, you still have not acknowledged this, nor have you sent a copy of the amended complaint." January 10, 1979.

"If you do not feel comfortable with this matter, or if for some reason you cannot conscientiously represent me in this matter, please let me know so I can make some other arrangements."

Exhibit 42 - "Why was this amended complaint not filed until 1979?" March 1, 1979.

After sending a copy of the amended complaint sometime in February 1979, the Respondent thereafter failed to communicate at all with his client. (Exhibit A, Grievance Committee Transcript, p. 118, lines 18-20).

Furthermore, the client lost his day in court as his case was dismissed due to lack of prosecution (<u>see</u> Exhibits C and D). The original complaint was dismissed, as was the refiled complaint. The client or his Washington counsel, made numerous requests of Mr. Rosenberg for status reports and important documents but there were inordinate delays in Mr. Rosenberg's responses.

It is noted that Mr. Rosenberg contended that he was discharged by his client on January 26, 1979. However, Mr. Rosenberg never filed a motion to withdraw as counsel (R. 45, lines 17-23; <u>see</u> <u>also</u>, Mr. Moore's comments concerning this matter in Exhibit A, Grievance Committee Transcript, p. 127-131, in particular, where Mr. Moore says, "We assumed that Mr. Rosenberg was still active in the case." Exhibit A, p. 130, lines 24-25).

-8-

Accordingly, The Florida Bar submits that a reading of Mr. Moore's testimony in Exhibit A and the reading of all the exhibits show by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Disciplinary Rule 6-101(A)(3) of the Code of Professional Responsibility, to wit: "Neglect of a legal matter entrusted to him."

III.

RESPONDENT'S CONVICTIONS OF FIVE MISDEMEANORS CONSTITUTED CONDUCT ADVERSELY REFLECTING ON HIS FITNESS TO PRACTICE LAW

The Respondent has admitted that he was found guilty of the five misdemeanors alleged in Count II of the Complaint (R. 37-40). In addition certified copies of said convictions were admitted into evidence as Exhibits E, F, G, H and I. Also, the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Appellate Division, affirmed the convictions. (R. 39, lines 16-25; R. 40, lines 1-2).

According to the Supreme Court decision in <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Vernell</u>, 374 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1979), a referee could not go behind the convictions in deciding whether or not a respondent is actually guilty of the offenses.

Although Mr. Rosenberg was entitled to, and did in fact, present mitigating circumstances to show why he should not be disciplined for the misdemeanor convictions (R. 59-66), he did not have the right to a trial de novo before the Referee for the purpose of showing that his convictions were erroneous. Also, it is noted that the Supreme Court, in the <u>Vernell</u> case, upheld the referee's finding that Mr. Vernell violated Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) concerning his conviction of failure to file income tax returns, which offenses are misdemeanors. Therefore, we submit

-9-

that Mr. Rosenberg's five misdemeanor convictions constitute violations of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6), conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lancaster</u>, 448 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1984), the Supreme Court disciplined an attorney who had pleaded nolo contendre to misdemeanors of altering the identification number of a boat and of possessing a boat with an altered identification number. Although adjudication of guilt was withheld on these offenses, the Supreme Court stated, "an attorney's pleading nolo contendre to a misdemeanor is related to his fitness to practice law." <u>See The Florida Bar v. Agar</u>, 394 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1980).

In view of the above, The Florida Bar contends that Mr. Rosenberg's five misdemeanor convictions are relevant to his fitness to practice law and are in violation of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

A lawyer is an officer of the Court and as such, he is expected to comply with the laws. Therefore, when an officer of the Court is convicted of five misdemeanors, he shows a disrespect for the law and as such, his conduct adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

IV.

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION FOR A NINETY-DAY SUSPENSION AND PAYMENT OF COSTS <u>IS NOT EXCESSIVE</u>

The Referee recommends Respondent be disciplined by suspension from practicing law for ninety days and payment of costs (RR. 3). However, the Respondent contends that a ninety-day suspension is

-10-

unusually severe and harsh under the facts of this case. Initial Brief, Page 8.

While a ninety-day suspension might be considered harsh for any one of the offenses of which Respondent was found guilty, we submit that this Court deals more severely with cumulative misconduct than with isolated misconduct. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rubin</u>, 362 So.2d 12, 15 (Fla. 1978); <u>The Florida Bar v. Vernell</u>, 374 So.2d 473, 476, (Fla. 1979); <u>See State ex rel. The Florida Bar</u> v. Murrell, 74 So.2d 221, 223, (Fla. 1954).

The official records of The Florida Bar show that the Respondent has been disciplined on two (2) prior occasions, to wit: (<u>see</u> Complainant's Memorandum Concerning Discipline). Respondent admits to prior discipline (Initial Brief of Respondent, Page 8)

- (a) A PRIVATE REPRIMAND was imposed on September 28, 1978. (Exhibit "A" to Complainant's Memo).
- (b) A PUBLIC REPRIMAND was imposed on August 28, 1980. <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Rosenberg</u>, 387 So.2d 935 (Fla. 1980).

Therefore, when considering the Respondent's prior disciplinary record and the violations described in Counts I and II of the Complaint, it is apparent that cumulative misconduct is present, as described in <u>The Florida Bar v. Vernell</u>, <u>supra</u>. Accordingly, the Bar submits that this Honorable Court should deal more severely with the Respondent's cumulative misconduct.

While Mr. Rosenberg's five misdemeanor convictions do not involve attorney-client relations, they do reflect upon his fitness to practice law -- especially when considered with his neglect of a legal matter and his prior Public and Private Reprimands.

-11-

Since Mr. Rosenberg's prior reprimands did not deter him from committing the violations in the case at hand, it is the Bar's view that the Referee's recommendation for a ninety-day suspension and payment of costs is an appropriate form of discipline in this case.

CONCLUSION

The Referee heard the testimony of the accused, read the pleadings, memoranda of law, and saw the exhibits. Therefore, he was in the best position to make a determination concerning the facts. In view of this, and considering the information in this brief, The Florida Bar respectfully requests the Report of Referee be approved.